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The Architectural Conservancy of Ontario
Founded in 1933

Aims

To preserve the finest examples of architecture in the
province.

To protect its places of natural beauty.

To é)re_:serve significant buildings regardless of age, style
and size.

To protect such buildings from unsympathetic alteration
To preserve the architectural integrity of streetscapes.

To protect places of natural beauty from destructive uses.

The London Region Branch
Founded in 1966

When faced with the probable loss of the buildings in London’s
earliest and professional areas on Ridout Street, concerned
citizens and groups combined to form the London Region
Branch of the ACO. As a branch of the Provincial ACO it
serves to further the aims of the parent organization in the
London Region.

Activities

Organizing walking tours, lectures,
bus trips and workshops.

Providing financial assistance to
owners of selected properties.

Influencing public policy at local
and provincial levels.

Holding an annual architectural
tour on the first Sunday in June.

Appointing a representative to
the London Advisory Committee
on Heritage (LACH).




EAST WOODFIELD WALK

Introduction

Welcome to the 39* annual Geranium Heritage House Tour.
This year’s tour returns to an area of London rich in history and
architectural charm. East Woodfield was the first Designated
Heritage District of London and, together with West Woodfield,
recently captured an award as “Best Neighbourhood in
Canada —Peoples Choice Award”. It has always maintained its
character as a quiet residential neighbourhood, and its tree-
lined streets feature some of the best architecture London has
to offer.

One of the main aims of the Architectural Conservancy of
Ontario is “to preserve the finest examples of architecture in
the province”. Our annual heritage house tour provides an
opportunity for Londoners to appreciate the richness of our
built heritage. To further the preservation of our built heritage,
proceeds from today’s tour will help fund two ongoing ACO
heritage projects:

- a $2000.00 grant to homeowners to help preserve or

restore heritage features of their home

- a $1000.00 grant to a student enrolled in a heritage
trades program at Algonquin College

Enjoy your stroll through lovely East Woodfield today. You will
find a map on the back cover of this booklet, but remember
that the route shown there is just a suggestion. The sites
are open from 1:00 to 5:00 (except for the refreshment stop
at Bishop Cronyn Memorial Church, which opens at 2:30),
and they can be viewed in any order. A potted red geranium
marks each house open for viewing (hence, the name of the
tour!).

NOTE: As part of our commitment to property owners we
would ask that tour participants be prepared to remove their
shoes if asked, and do not take interior photographs.

Thank you for your participation.

3



EAST WOODFIELD WALK

History

East Woodfield is a community determined to maintain a
vibrant neighbourhood with respect for its heritage. The
East Woodfield Heritage Conservation District was established
in 1994 as London’s first Heritage Conservation District. It
comprises approximately 170 buildings on the east side of
Maitland Street between Central and Dufferin, the north side
of Queens Avenue between Adelaide and Peter Streets, and
the west side of Adelaide Street between Queens Avenue
and Dufferin. Its northern edge includes portions of Central
Avenue, and Princess Avenue. Internally, it includes blocks
on Palace Street, Princess Avenue, Prospect Avenue, William
Street, Dufferin Avenue and Peter Street. The area exhibits a
surprisingly diverse, rich array of architectural styles. These
include excellent examples of Gothic Revival, Italianate,
High Victorian Gothic, Second Empire, and Queen Anne style
buildings.

Following the incorporation of the town in 1840, London
stretched north and eastward to Huron and Adelaide Streets.
The boundaries of Ira Schofield’s large land grant are marked
today by the jogs Dufferin Avenue and Princess Avenue take.
Reverend Benjamin Cronyn, first Anglican Bishop of Huron,

Woodfield, c1900
Built in 1846 and demolished in 1968
Ivey Family London Room
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acquired three blocks of land and built a large stone house
called “The Pines” on the southeast portion at Dundas and
Adelaide, c 1846.

Although the home was sold by Cronyn in 1854, it returned
to the family in 1892 when John Labatt gave it as a wedding
gift to his daughter, Frances Amelia, and Hume Blake Cronyn.
They renamed the house “Woodfield”.

By the 1850s, large building lots were created in several
subdivision plans registered for the area and London’s first
suburbs began to be built. The coming of the Great Western
Railway in 1853 and the oil boom of the 1860s and 1870s
created a land boom east of the city’s core making Queens
Avenue the most exclusive street in London. Located between
the downtown financial and mercantile core and the refineries
southeast of Adelaide, Woodfield was a logical choice for the
grand residences of London’s wealthy citizens. In 1875 the
street railway system along Dundas Street and Great Market
Street (Central Avenue) expanded access to Woodfield. This
accessibility to the core is responsible for the neighbourhood’s
strictly residential function except for the small commercial
area at Fitzgerald’s Corners (462-466 Dufferin Avenue).

But East Woodfield was not only the home of London’s elite.
Middle and working class tradesmen, skilled artisans and
clerks built decorative, smaller, Queen Anne storey-and-a-half
homes in many of the spaces between the mansions espe-
cially towards the north and east of the district.

By the 1920s, large homes in the area began to be converted
to multiple family dwellings or to offices and institutional uses.
Many of the city’s elite moved to the newer exclusive streets in
the north or south ends of the city. Old houses in the district
lacked modern conveniences while increased educational and
work opportunities caused a lack of domestic help needed to
maintain them. The trend continued until 1969 when a new
generation of Woodfield citizens organized to conserve the
neighbourhood’s heritage. Evolving into the Woodfield Com-
munity Association, the organization has become an effective
voice in keeping this part of the city “Residential to the Core.”
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Lord Roberts School
440 Princess Avenue

1916 Priority 1

In 1862 the two-room Bond Street School was built on what is now
called Princess Avenue. The growth of London’s first suburb result-
ed in the building of a larger 10-room school called Princess Avenue
School on the northwest corner of Princess and Colborne Street in
1883. By 1914 the cost of installing electricity, heating and plumb-
ing as well as adding 2 classrooms was deemed too expensive.

The large frame house that once stood on this property, named
Bleak House after Charles Dickens’ novel, went up for sale for
$30,000. It belonged to George Macbeth, heir to Thomas Talbot,
and is rumored to be where Talbot died. With the urging of the
chair of the London Board of Education’s Maintenance Committee,
A. E. Silverwood who lived at 519 Dufferin Avenue, the property
was purchased and a school built for $69,295, twice the cost of
other schools built at this time.

The 14-room school which officially opened on November 17, 1916,
included a large kindergarten, Manual Training and Household
Science facilities. Luxury features included fireplaces in the second
floor kindergarten and third floor Household Science room, and a
heated swimming tank in the basement. An assembly room was
provided by folding doors that opened from the kindergarten into
the hall and identical doors on the principal’s classroom directly
across the hall. The track for these doors is still visible on the
second floor. A determined effort to create a bright, sun filled
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school was achieved by large banks of double hung windows many
of which faced north, skylights in two third floor classrooms and in
the third floor hall, and a basement at ground level to allow for the
placement of good sized windows.

The old Princess Avenue School was demolished in 1931. The old
school bell was presented to Lord Roberts School and still hangs on
the east wall of the second floor. Lord Roberts was named in honour
of Lord Roberts, the Earl of Roberts, Commander of British Forces
in the South African War (Boer War) in which Canadian soldiers
“distinguished themselves, bringing glory and fame to Canada.”

The school building has undergone only two major physical changes:
in the 1950’s when the pool was filled in; and in 1972 when the gym
was added and change rooms and a hallway used the space once
occupied by the pool. Many original interior and exterior features
are still to be found.

The greatest change has come in the student body of Lord Roberts.
In 1926 the enroliment reached a peak of 456 with large classes that
often numbered more than 50. Attendance slowly declined as the
neighbourhood character changed and by 1981 it was a dual track
school with English and French Immersion programmes in the one
building. By 1985 Lord Roberts became the first completely French
Immersion Public School in London. Although it is not technically
a neighbourhood school and attracts students from a wide area of
the city, it is the last public elementary school in London’s core and
essential to the vitality of the Woodfield Heritage districts.

Use the staircase at either end of the basement hall to take
you to the upper floors of the school.

In the stairwell windows notice the attractive stained glass panels
that have been created for the past two decades by members of
the graduating class.

Exit the school, using the staircases that lead to the rear of
the school.

Before turning your attention to the external architectural features
of Lord Roberts, take a moment to enjoy the welcoming naturalized
area at the back of the school. In 1992 work started to turn an
asphalt-covered area into the beautiful sanctuary that you see
today. Students, teachers and the Woodfield community have been
involved in the process.

Lord Roberts is a fine example of the Collegiate Gothic style. On
the back (north) face of the building, the large banks of windows
are arranged symmetrically but vary in size to create a pleasing
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balance. Notice the banks of three windows above the doorways
which flood the landings inside with light. The tall narrow windows
using small panes of mullioned glass is typical of Collegiate Gothic,
as is the parapet roofline. The graceful arches in this roofline are
another example of the attention to detail in the design of this
school.

Walk around to the front of the school.

Take time to look at the fine craftsmanship evident on the front
facade. The impressive triple bay which housed the Household
Science room, kindergarten, and Manual Training room, centres the
symmetry. Notice how the windows in the lower bay reach to the
ground and give the school the appearance of being “rooted” to its
site. The single windows on the outer edges of the third floor are
in classrooms that originally had skylights.

Buttresses often appear on Collegiate Gothic and were used in
several places on the fagcade, particularly above the Girls and Boys
entrances. The space between the hanging buttresses and stone
gable is filled with a different brick than the walls. How many
different brick treatments can you find on the front fagade? The
separate entrances, typical in this era, are recessed and framed
by stone arches and pilasters which are also typical of Collegiate
Gothic.

Head east on Princess Avenue to Maitland Street. Cross
Maitland and then Princess. Turn left (east).

Take time to appreciate the many exquisite details on the houses
that you pass. 473 Princess Ave. is a charming Side-Hall Plan
cottage in a block of two-storey homes. In this area there is a
wealth of white brick Italianate houses built in the 1880s. 475
Princess, along with 472, 474, and 486 all have a center gable,
double brackets, segmental-headed windows and a side doorway
on the front facade. Compare the bargeboards, brackets, and other
decorative elements such as keystones, on these homes.

The trim on the stucco house at 483 Princess is ornate and very
unusual. The decoration around the doorway is repeated on the
windows and, in a modified form, in the corners below the eaves
frieze.
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489 Princess Avenue

1881 Priority 1 - Designated

This unique wood frame house was built for Charles F. Colwell, a
printer who worked with the London Advertiser and the Free Press.

This is a proud corner house, with an elegant presentation toward
both streets. The edges of the home are dramatically accented
with wooden “sticks”, making this one of the few Stick style houses
in London. Diagonal wooden slats in the two storey bay and on
the verandah further demonstrate this style, and make a nice con-
trast with the tongue-in-groove siding covering most of the house.
Intricate bargeboard accentuates the front and side gables, and
brackets draw attention to the roof. The sharp edges of the house
are softened by graceful columns on the corner verandah, where
the doorway is quietly tucked.

Notice the great variety of styles in window trim. Some windows
have squared headings, some have pointed Gothic style framing.
There are double windows on the north side and single on the east.
Notice also the variety in rooflines — a pointed gable roof on the
north side and bell-cast roof on the east, echoed atop the veran-
dah. Somehow all of these features work together to produce an
eclectic but pleasing design. It's no wonder this home has been
referred to as a “fantasy in wood".

Exit the house onto Prospect Avenue and turn right
(south).
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9 Prospect Avenue

c1883 Priority 3 - Designated
This Side-Hall Plan cottage is one of three in a row built by Jones
Brothers Construction in the 1880s. Originally frame like its neighbour
at 7 Prospect, this Side Hall Plan cottage has been pebble stuccoed
and the verandah enlarged. The hipped roof has been extended over
the verandah and its shape is echoed in a small roof capping the
dormer window.

Notice the original double leaf front door, a common feature in homes
along this street. The tall windows and doorway transom welcome
light into the house, and a bay window on the south side catches
more rays of the sun. Simple yet elegant wood framing around the
windows and doorway adds a finishing touch to this charming cottage.

Exit the house and continue south on Prospect Avenue.

Compare the three Side-Hall Plan cottages at 9, 7 and 5 Prospect
Avenue. 7 Prospect Avenue retains its original frame siding and ornate
gingerbread verandah with its cut-out fretwork brackets. The details
on this attractive cottage illustrate the pride taken in the construction
of a relatively modest home.

5 Prospect Avenue has been altered significantly over the years.
The Italianate house at 3 Prospect Avenue was once the home of
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Charles Beal, father of Herbert (H.B. Beal), the first principal of the
technical high school on Dundas Street. It later became his name-

sake.

Cross Prospect Avenue to the east side, turn left (north) and

walk towards Princess Avenue.

The Italianate buildings at 20 and 24 Prospect Avenue appear, at first
glance, to be mirror images. Look closely and you will see a number

of differences.

The house at 26 Prospect Avenue is another house in the Italianate
style, unusual in London because it is frame. Notice the decorative

eaves brackets,
rope twist de-
tailing around
the bay window
and elaborate
window heads
on both the
front and south
facades. Metal
cresting has
been used to
trim the porch
and bay roofs.

26 Prospect Avenue

When you reach Princess Avenue turn right (east).

Geraniums for today's tour have been provided by Van
Horik’s Greenhouses and Garden Centre.
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507 Princess Avenue

1885-86 Priority 1 - Designated

An elegant classical porch now adorns this home, but look beyond
it to imagine how this High Victorian townhouse appeared when
first built in 1885 for piano tuner William D. Taylor. Constructed of
“white” brick, the two-and-one-half storey house is unique in many
of its architectural details.

The front gable roofline commands attention with its squared
top and elaborate cornice, featuring single and paired brackets.
Centred beneath is a bull’s eye window accentuated by a raised
brick surround. A single bay on the ground floor balances the side
doorway, and upper floor windows are also balanced, with twins
over the bay and a larger window over the door. Notice that the
paired brackets of the bay imitate those in the cornice above.

The double-leaf door is accentuated with heavy mouldings and
topped with a large etched glass transom. The addtion of a porch
c1911, with paired Ionic columns and dentil decoration has added
further drama to this stately home.

Exit the house and continue to walk east on Princess
Avenue.
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Next door, at 513 Princess Avenue, pause to admire the shingle
work on this Queen Anne style house. Note also the large arched
window in the front facade and the arched detail that is repeated
in the porch. Another feature to appreciate is the use of brackets
to elongate the second-storey windows.

Look across the street to 510 Princess Avenue, with its pierced
wood-work in the porch, pair of rounded windows above the stately
one-storey bay and the off-centre gable. The house was built c1882
for Reuben Brummit, a blacksmith and carriage-spring maker.

Porch detail 510 Princess Ave.

Cross the street to visit the next heritage home on the Tour.

e
7 uckey ¢
7B deeu Patio
Annuals, Perennials, Soils, Fertilizers, Planters and More

Store hours Mon - Fri 8 - 8, Saturday 8:30 - 6, Sunday 10 - 5

Tuckey Home Hardware

136 Wortley Road - Worley Village
London, OM NEC 3PS

T 519-432-F863
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522 Princess Avenue

cl1876 Priority 3 - Designated

Intricate gable decoration and brickwork design are prominent
features in this Queen Anne style townhouse. The tall, offset gable
is adorned with bargeboard, fishscale shingles, and a sunburst
pattern in the peak. Carved consoles outline the paired windows and
a double row of dentil patterning completes the gable decoration.

The large rounded window on the ground floor, crowned with brick
voussoirs, contains original stained glass. Its shape is echoed in a
smaller window on the second floor over the door. The verandah, a
later addition, features turned-wood columns and a pediment over
the doorway which balances the gable nicely.

The first owner listed at this address was William Angus, a
boilermaker. In the early 1900s, Albert McMullen operated a
printing company in a building behind the house, and listed it as
522 2 Princess Ave.

Exit the house and continue to stroll east on Princess Av-
enue.

The house next door at 524 Princess Avenue boasts elegant cor-
belled chimneys, a timbered gable and a slate roof.

Cross to the south side of Princess Avenue.
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527 Princess Avenue

1899 Priority 1 -Designated

This grand home was built for Frank Cooper, London’s leading
portrait photographer at the turn of the century. The Queen Anne
style is on full display here, with a prominent corner tower, elaborate
gables on the front and side, and wrap-around verandah. These
nicely balanced design elements are topped by a steeply pitched
slate roof with five corbelled chimneys. The pediment in the gable
is @ masterpiece in itself, and its triangular shape is echoed atop
the doorway.

Take a moment to notice the multitude of decorative elements,
and then step back to see how they harmonize. Rows of dentils
underscore the gable pediment, and are echoed in smaller fashion
on the tower and verandah. A fish-scale pattern in the slate roof is
repeated in the tower roof and infill in the gable.

The tower commands your attention, with its neat row of third
floor windows and large cap roof. Its rounded form is balanced
by curves on the gable side of the house, a large rounded window
on the ground floor and a rounded Palladian window above on the
third floor. An elaborate stone window heading above the ground
floor window is balanced, again, by simpler headings on the tower
windows.

This house is truly one of London’s architectural gems.
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Exit the house and continue to walk east.

The handsome residence at 529 Princess Avenue was built in 1880
for Dr. John D. Salter, a physician. Note the decorative keystones,
the small central gable ornamented with pierced woodwork, the
paired brackets, the double-leaf door and the corbelled chimneys.

Turn right (south) onto William Street.

Look across the street to the yellow brick houses at 518 and 520
William Street. Notice how the delicate pierced woodwork in the
porch gables enlivens these small twin houses.

515 William Street, a combination of several styles of architecture,
is believed to be the work of architect George Durand. Look for
keystones, handsome bay windows

and interesting gable treatment

with pierced bargeboard on three

sides of the house.

514 William Street, on the east
side, is an Ontario cottage that
has been modified to provide a
second storey.

509 William Street, an Italianate

house, has elaborate bargeboard

in the gable, beautiful cresting,

paired brackets, a double-leaf

door and two bay windows. The

cresting is said to have been

made by the original owner who 515 William Street
operated the Dennis Steel Company, an early

manufacturer of ornamental ironwork.

When you reach Dufferin Avenue turn left and cross William
to the east side.

550 Dufferin Avenue uses a variety of building materials — brick,
stone and slate, in unusual soft colours, for the roof. Built many
years after its neighbours, c1950, it blends well with them.

Cross to the south side of Dufferin Avenue.
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553 Dufferin Avenue

1912-13 Priority 1 - Designated

This stately Tudor Revival style residence was built for Charles
Keene, a cabinetmaker and partner in the Keene Brothers Furniture
Store from 1892 to 1914. He later became president of the Ontario
Furniture Company, whose building still stands proudly at 228
Dundas Street. Formerly part of Benjamin Cronyn’s land, this lot
was the site of a skating rink in 1886 and then a lumberyard. The
house was designed by architect J. Vicar Munro of the noted London
firm Moore and Munro, and during its construction Charles Keene
lived next door at 557 Dufferin.

Typical of Tudor Revival style is the half timbering in the upper
storey above a red brick first storey. The central doorway is flanked
by a tall gable on the left side and a bay window on the right,
with a wide dormer window gracing the roof above. Contrast the
simplicity of decoration on this house to others you have seen on
the walk. The multiple-paned windows have simple outlines and
the gable has flat bargeboard with only a slight flare at the bottom.

The most decorative part of the home’s fagade is the entranceway.
The small porch is adorned with large wooden brackets and the
doorway itself sparkles with a glass door, transom and sidelights.
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Doorway detail at 553 Dufferin Ave.

Exit the house, turn left (west) on Dufferin Avenue and

cross William Street.

Unlike Queens Avenue, which we will reach later in our Tour, most
of the fine homes on Dufferin Avenue retain their original single

family use.

As you walk west look across the street to the handsome Queen
Anne style residence at 532 Dufferin Avenue. The immense and
ornate bargeboards in the gables and the differing window shapes
are just two of the architectural features that make it so attractive.

518 Dufferin Av-
enue is a unique
interpretation of
the Ontario Cot-
tage style. Note
the attractive
recessed door-
way, large centre
bargeboard-
trimmed gable,
stained glass
transoms over the
front windows and
the corner quoins.

518 Dufferin Ave.
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521 Dufferin Avenue

1875 Priority 2 - Designated

This two-storey Italianate style home was built in 1875 by brothers
James Moran, a cabinet maker, and Jeremiah Henry Moran, a
carriage maker with a shop on Richmond Street. They also built the
house next door at 517 Dufferin once owned by Albert Silverwood.

Typical of the Italianate style, the house has strong vertical lines
and a hipped roof with wide eaves and paired brackets. The tall
windows have gently rounded tops crowned with brick voussoirs and
carved keystones. Notice the small roof over the door, supported
by brackets, with its gentle curve echoing the window tops.

Take special note of the elegant triple-arched London doorway, a
feature especially abundant in our city. Approximately 50 of these
custom-made doorways have been found and documented, however
the identity of their creator(s) remains a mystery. It is thought that
the Moran brothers may have built several of them, having had
the skills required to bend and shape wood. Furthermore, the first
London doorway appeared in 1868, the same year the brothers
emigrated from Ireland to London.
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Exit the house and continue to walk west on Dufferin
Avenue.

517 Dufferin Avenue, a well- proportioned and substantial residence
with a newer addition, was once the home of Albert E. Silverwood
whose egg and poultry business grew into Silverwood-Sealtest
Dairies.

Cross Dufferin Avenue to view 510-512.

This unique double house is set further back than the houses on
adjacent properties. The fine architectural features of this Itali-
anate-style home include twin, narrow, semi-circular headed win-
dows above the two main entrances. Picture framing brickwork de-
lineates the front facade.

510-512 Dufferin Ave.

Call today to book a

The

a

verle

Retirement Residence

B complimentary lunch and tour!
o A 519.667.1381
Y 10 Grand Avenue
pret 1 Lgwan In the heart of Old South
_-'-:__; S i London

Units starting at $1695.00 per month
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506 Dufferin Avenue

1876 Priority 3 - Designated

Ontario Cottages can be found throughout London’s older
neighbourhoods, nestled amongst larger Italianate and Queen
Anne homes. They are known for their stately symmetry, with a
central doorway flanked by large windows on either side.

An excellent example of the Ontario Cottage style, this house has
a low hipped roof and central gable above the door. A round-
headed “window” in the attic is crowned with brick voussoirs and
a keystone. The ornamented front and side porches are later
additions, enlivening a fairly simple facade. Notice the elegant
doorway with its glass sidelights and transom.

The house was built in 1876 for Andrew Ellis, a retired accountant
listed in the city directory as a “gentleman”. His son, Andrew Ellis
Junior, lived on Prospect Ave. for a time but then repurchased this
house in 1900 and remained here for 30 years.

Exit the house and continue to walk west on Dufferin Ave.

500 Dufferin Avenue is a charming Italianate building most notable
for its intricate frieze with brackets and pendules. The windows are
high and wide with stone sills and gracefully curved stone headings.
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498 Dufferin Avenue was built by James Smith, who lived at 500
Dufferin, for his daughter and son-in-law. Notice the Dutch-style
gable with the contained arched window on the Prospect side.
Other features include a heavily corbelled chimney and a decorative
slate roof.

Pause a moment at the intersection of Prospect and Dufferin to
enjoy and admire the variety and charm of the nearby homes.
They vary in age, size, style and building materials but they blend
beautifully together.

Cross to the west side of Prospect Avenue.

486 Dufferin Avenue, one of the best examples of Queen Anne
Revival architecture in London, was built for George Matheson,
an executive with the

London Free Press.

The position of the

octagonal tower and

the elaborate classical

verandah give the

house a commanding

presence from both

streets. An attic dormer

overlooks Prospect

while a small gable

with bull’s eye window

faces Dufferin.

Cross Dufferin
Avenue to the south
side.

486 Dufferin Ave.
489 Dufferin Avenue (1881) exhibits unusual
decorative woodwork. The Side- Hall Plan cottage at 491 Dufferin
Avenue (1881) boasts elaborate woodwork on the verandah and a
miniature pediment above the entrance.

493 Dufferin Avenue was long occupied by the Ingram family, co-
owners of Smallman and Ingram’s department store at the corner
of Dundas and Richmond Streets. Note the slight curve of the front
facade, a very unusual feature, the triple-windowed attic dormer
and the dentiled wooden frieze under the eaves.
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499 Dufferin Avenue

1875 Priority 2 - Designated

This house first appears in the City Directory c 1875 and appears
to have been owned by several businessmen until it was pur-
chased by Lemuel Ingram ¢ 1890. Ingram relocated from Wortley
Road to his double lot in Woodfield where he was able to walk to
his thriving business, Smallman & Ingram’s Dry Goods. J. Gordon
Ingram became president of the company following the death

of his father and later, Mr. Smallman. Smallman & Ingram was
London’s largest department store and was bought by the Robert
Simpson Company in 1944. That location is now known as Market
Tower.

Gordon originally lived next door at 493 but in 1920 as the presi-
dent of London’s finest department store, he changed homes with
his mother and younger brother, Kenneth. He immediately hired
Hayman Bros. to build a two storey addition to the back of the
house. The house stayed in the family until his death in 1959. It
has never been subdivided and as a result, many original features
are still in place. Today it enjoys life as the Woodfield Bed and
Breakfast.

The outstanding feature of the 2 2 storey, Gothic revival white
brick house is the bandshell verandah with its classical columns
and balustrade. Dentil detail lines the top of the verandah. Fire
insurance maps indicate that the sunroom was at one time an
open verandah and the small verandah at the back of the house
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was added between 1890 and 1910.

The front facade gable is filled with half timbering and supported
by large brackets. The L shaped dormer roof on the east side is
filled with the same half timbering. Notice the fascia line in the
gables that is broken at midpoint. Wooden soffits are still in use
and are lined by brackets. Wood moulding surrounds the two-
storey front bay. Two large corbelled chimneys dominate the west
roof and a third is found at the back of the house.

Smallman and Ingram c1923
The Ingram brothers, Gordon and Kenneth, walked every day

from their homes at 493 and 499 Dufferin Ave to their department
store at Dundas and Richmond.

Exit the building and turn right (south) on to Peter Street.
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This street was named for Samuel Peters, who conducted the
original survey of the Woodfield area in 1853.

22 Peter Street, the oldest house on the block (c1870), is an
Ontario Farmhouse style. The first owner was Owen Benson, of
Benson Brothers Organ Manufacturers. Note the arched window
in the gable and the relatively simple but very pleasing decorative
detail.

23 Peter Street

is an exception-

ally fine exam-

ple of the Itali-

anate style. The

porch is original

and the door-

way is unique

with its gently

arched and di-

vided transom

with  bevelled

glass. Notice

the second sto- 22 Peter Street
rey arched window over the porch and the unusual
dormer in the roof.

Cross Peter Street to the east side to visit the next heritage
building.

Supporting
the
community for
16 years

519.933.6658
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Queen’s Village for Seniors
518 Queens Avenue

1872 Priority 1 Designated

This magnificent building is now known as Queen’s Village for
Seniors, however it was built as a residence for James Duffield and
his family in 1872. James Duffield made his fortune in oil refining,
and played a role in the formation of Imperial Oil. After his death
in 1888 his nephew, James C. Duffield resided here until 1920. The
younger Duffield founded the London Gas Light Company, providing
natural gas to light homes and street lights.

One of three mansions in this area built in the Second Empire style,
the original house actually faces Queens Street. A portion of its
original fagade remains although it is obscured by a large addition
on the south side. As you approach from Peter Street you are
facing the side entrance, where nineteenth century guests would
have disembarked from their carriages and entered through the
sheltered doorway. The horses would have been led to the coach
house, still standing to your left.

The most prominent feature of the Second Empire style is a
mansard roof inset with dormer windows. In this case the roof
is very impressive; its single and double dormers decorated with
heavy white outlines and massive window surrounds. The entire
roof is capped with elaborate cresting like icing on a cake. Beneath
the eaves is a wide decorative cornice adorned with rows of small
dentils and large circular discs. Notice that additions to the building
have continued many of the original décor themes.
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Exit the building and continue south on Peter Street to
Queens Avenue.

Look across Queens Avenue to a streetscape of impressive Victorian
houses that reflect the former prestige of the neighbourhood.

507 and 513 Queens Avenue were designed by architect George
Durand. Both High Victorian houses have elaborate gables,
bichromatic brickwork, two-storey bays and handsome eaves
brackets.

Turn left and walk east along Queens Avenue.

Many houses on this part of Queens Avenue are now occupied by
businesses or institutions. Sometimes, as with 533 Queens Avenue
on the southwest corner of Queens and William, the adaptive
reuse has been accomplished without any significant change in
the important architectural features. Notice that the carved stone
porch and large stained glass window on the west side have been
carefully preserved. Other interesting features include the high-
pitched roof, corbelled chimneys and roof finials.

534 Queens Avenue is a Second Empire house built c1870
for William

Spencer, one

of the founders

of Imperial

Oil. Observe

the handsome

mansard roof and

the three-storey

bays.

Cross William
Street to the
east side.

536 Queens

Avenue was 534 Queens Ave.
designed by George Durand for Charles

Murray, manager of the Federal Bank of Canada. A square central
tower is flanked by a deep two-storey bay with a conical roof on
one side and a gabled two-storey projection on the other.

Cross Queens Avenue to the south side.
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Bishop Cronyn Memorial
Anglican Church
442 William Street

Anglican services and Sunday School sessions began on the east
side of London as early as 1860, leading to the establishment of a
parish known as St. George’s, housed in a small wooden building
on the east side of Adelaide St. near York St. The rapid growth of
London East necessitated parish expansion after 1870. This need
coincided with the desire of the Cronyn family to honour the mem-
ory of Benjamin Cronyn, the first Bishop of Huron, who had died in
1871. In March 1872, an agreement was reached by the family and
parishioners, and in the short space of twenty-one months, a new
church was designed and built, opening on December 14, 1873.

Designed by the Toronto architect Henry Langley in the then-popu-
lar neo-gothic style, the original building was 104 feet long and 44
feet wide. In 1879, the north and south transepts and west gallery
were added and in 1893, the wooden ceiling was installed (at a cost
of $410.00!), giving the church its present interior dimensions. An
enlarged parish house, including offices , an auditorium and Sunday
School facilities, opened in 1925. Named Warner Hall in honour of
Quintin Warner, rector of the parish 1917-1945, it was demolished
and replaced by Warner Place, the adjoining seniors’ apartment
complex, in 1986.

The exterior of the building is marked by a free-standing, open bell
tower over the west entrance and by the liberal use of polychrome
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brick (red brick inserts contrasting with the walls of yellow brick).
The wooden doors and hardware on the north and south sides of
the west entrance are original, while

the glass centre door is a recent

addition, replacing a wooden one

which was beyond repair.

The church’s interior uses a centre

aisle with two side aisles, the origi-

nal high altar and choir being elevat-

ed at the east end. In the last five

years, several front pews have been

turned inward ninety degrees, to al-

low the high altar’s placement at the

crossing of the nave and transepts.

Several rear pews have been re-

moved, creating a gathering space

at the west entrance. The south .
transept is now a memorial chapel, Bell Tower Detail
celebrating lives lost in war and

marking the history of the parish as

the garrison church for Wolseley Bar-

racks. The north transept is a Lady

Chapel, housing several renditions of

Madonna and Child.

Memorials abound in the stained

glass windows, sculpture and plaques

around the church’s interior. Visitors

might take particular interest in the

military colours laid up in the church,

in the Memorial Chapel; in the small

Madonna and Child recovered from

a bombed-out church during World

War I and now located hear the pul-

pit; and in the dramatic memorial

plague for Col. Woodman Leonard in Window Detail
the Lady Chapel. The pulpit itself was originally

Benjamin Cronyn’s, standing in St. Paul’s Cathedral. It was given to
the parish on its opening in 1873.

Refreshments will be served on the second floor of the
church between 2:30 and 5:00. An elevator is available.

We hope you enjoyed the tour!
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Glossary
Bargeboard: board, usually ornamented, under a gable.

Bay: a division of a fagade usually indicated by an opening such as
a door or window; or projection, as in “bay window”.

Balustrade: a row of carved columns supporting a hand rail.
Bracket: a projection from a wall, usually beneath the eaves.

Buttress: an exterior mass of masonry bonded into a wall which
it supports.

Column: tall, cylindrical support, usually with details from Classical
orders (Doric - plainest with a simple capital, Ionic - decorated with
scrolls on the capital).

Console: a scroll-shaped bracket used for decoration or support.

Corbel: stepped brickwork projecting from a wall, usually to
support a window or chimney top.

Cornice: the decorative termination to a wall; transition between
wall and roof.

Cresting: ornamental finish along the top of a wall or roof.

Dentil: small rectangular block, similar to teeth; usually a number
of blocks repeated as a band in a classical cornice.

Dormer: vertical window in a projection built onto a sloping roof.

Double-leaf door: an outside door composed of two equal vertical
sections closing in the centre.

Finial: vertical ornament topping a gable or spire.
Frieze: part of cornice below roofline, often decorated.

Gable: the triangular portion of a wall between the enclosing lines
of a sloping roof.

Gothic Revival: a style developed in reaction to the restraint
of Georgian; defined by steeply pitched rooflines, pointed arched
windows and picturesque decoration.

Half-timbered: timber framing with plaster or masonry infill.
Hip or Hipped Roof: a roof sloping on all four sides.

Italianate: a style originating in rural Italy which features
shallow rooflines, tall arched windows and deep overhanging eaves
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supported by decorative brackets.
Keystone: the stone at the top of an arch or window surround.
London Doorway: a doorway with a triple arch, unique to London.

Mansard roof: hipped roof of double pitch, the lower section with
a steep slope; named after French architect Mansard.

Mullion: decorative vertical element dividing windows or doors.

Ontario Cottage: a popular style among Canadian settlers;
featuring one-and-a-half storey design, large windows and small
gable over a central doorway.

Palladian Window: a three-part window with the centre section
larger and arched at the top.

Parapet: part of a wall that extends above the roofline.
Pediment: a triangular area within a gable or above a portico.
Pendule: hanging ornament.

Pilaster: rectangular feature in the shape of a pillar, projecting
from a wall.

Queen Anne Style: a style originating in England and popular in
London in the early 1900s; featuring irregular rooflines and house
footprints, gables, towers, and intricate decoration.

Quoins: stone or brick used to reinforce a corner.

Second Empire Style: a decorative style of architecture originating
in France during the opulent reign of Napoleon III and brought
to Canada in the 1870s; the most notable feature is an imposing
Mansard roof.

Segmental arch: a gentle arch formed of bricks or stone over a
window or door.

Sidelight: glass panels on either side of a door.
Transom: a glass panel above a door or window.

Tudor Revival: a style of architecture developed in the United
Kingdom in the mid 19th century as a reaction against ornate
Victorian excess, featuring steeply pitched roofs, gables, decorative
half-timbering, and patterned brickwork.

Voussoirs: wedge-shaped stones or bricks used to form an arch.
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Designation

Some of the buildings described or noted in this booklet are
on the City of London’s /nventory of Heritage Resources. The
Inventory is a list, compiled to date by the London Advisory
Committee on Heritage (LACH), and the Planning Department.
It consists of nearly 2,000 buildings and structures located
throughout the city, which have architectural or historical
significance. Many of them are eligible for designation under
the provisions of the Ontario Heritage Act or may already
be designated. Some are part of a designated heritage
conservation district.

Owners of any property can request designation by City Coun-
cil through LACH and the City of London’s Heritage Planner.
Designation, which is done through the passage of a by-law,
provides some protection for buildings against alterations and
demolition. Copies of the Znventory can be viewed at the City
Clerk’s office, in libraries and is available online through the
City's website.

Priority 1 buildings are London’s most important heritage
structures and merit designation under Part IV of the On-
tario Heritage Act. This group includes landmark buildings
and other structures with major architectural and/or historical
significance. On Council’s recommendation they may be des-
ignated without the owner’s consent.

Priority 2 buildings merit evaluation for designation because
of their significant architectural and/or historical value.

Priority 3 buildings may merit designation as part of a group
of buildings or as part of a heritage conservation district.
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